

Applied Research and Innovation Branch

Automated Placement and Retrieval of Traffic Cones

LuAnn Theiss, P.E., PTOE Research Engineer Texas A&M Transportation Institute

and

Gerald L. Ullman, P.E., Ph.D. Senior Research Engineer Texas A&M Transportation Institute

Report No. CDOT-2017-07 July 2017 The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views of the Colorado Department of Transportation or the Federal Highway Administration. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

Ms. Theiss and Dr. Ullman are registered professional engineers in the State of Texas.

		Technical Report Documentation Page			
1. Report No.	2. Government Accession N	0.	Recipient's Cat	alog No.	
CDOT-2017-07					
4. Title and Subtitle		FEIG CONES	5. Report Date		
AUTOMATED PLACEMENT AI	ND RETRIEVAL OF TRA	AFFIC CONES	July 2017		
			6. Performing Org	anization Code	
7. Author(s)			8. Performing Org	anization Report No.	
LuAnn Theiss and Gerald L. Ullm	an		CDOT-2017-07	7	
9. Performing Organization Name and			10. Work Unit No.	. (TRAIS)	
Texas A&M Transportation Institu	ite				
2935 Research Parkway		11. Contract or G	rant No.		
College Station, TX 77845-3135			CDOT 314.04		
			TTI Project No.	. 604111	
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Add	race		13 Type of Repo	rt and Period Covered	
Colorado Department of Transport			Final		
4201 E. Arkansas Ave.	auton - Researen		1 mai		
Denver, CO 80222			14. Sponsoring Agency Code		
			Study No. 314.		
			5100 110. 51 1.		
15. Supplementary Notes					
Prepared in cooperation with the U	IS Department of Transpor	tation Federal High	way Administration		
repared in cooperation with the c	b Department of Transpor	tution, i ederar ringh	way rammstration.		
16. Abstract					
10. Abstract					
This research report documents the	e findings of an investigati	on into automated te	mporary traffic contro	ol device (TTCD)	
deployment and retrieval technolo					
information from manufacturers and					
TTCD deployment and retrieval te					
deployment and retrieval products					
automated product has the potentia					
complex systems. Partially autom					
lowering mechanisms, but they ma			orkers to fall from the	eir platiorins. Systems	
with no automation offer the least	benefit, but also have lowe	er costs.			
Implementation					
Steps to implementation include:					
(1) CDOT will need to determine	which TTCD setup and rer	noval systems best f	it into their risk-balar	cing practices by	
reviewing the types of injuries that					
injuries that each TTCD setup and			and comparing them	to the types of	
(2) If CDOT is interested in a fully			wan to parforming a r	oor ovehenge with	
the Minnesota DOT, which has recently procured and is now using such a device. CDOT should contact their Federal					
Highway Administration (FHWA) Division to explore the funding potential for such a peer exchange.					
17. Keywords		18. Distribution Stater	nent		
work zone, worker safety, temporary traffic control, This document is available on CDOT's website				website	
maintenance of traffic, channelizin	http://www.coloradodot.info/programs/research/pdfs				
vertical panels					
retuent puncto					
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif. (of		21. No. of Pages	22. Price	
Unclassified	Unclassifie	f	44		
Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)	Reproduction of completed	page authorized			

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The researchers would like to thank the following CDOT active or former staff members for serving on the Advisory Committee for this research project: David Reeves, Kyle Lester, Darrell Lingk, Alfonso Martinez, Bill Pentek, Chris Volkert, Tyler Weldon, David Wieder, Roy Smith, Tracie Smith, Richard Marquez, Adam Padilla, and Gary Goldsberry.

In addition, many vendors, manufacturers, contractors, and state agency employees provided valuable information on the products in this report, including: John Doran of Centreville Trailer; Joe Uber of Centreville Trailer; Preston Denlinger of J-Tech; Andrew Roberts of Royal Truck and Equipment; Jeff Wilkins of Epic Solutions; Steve Dudas of S.P.A. Safety Systems; Serge Daignault of Artec Innovations; Dave Wyrick of Barrel Mover 5000; Reed Felton, representing SCR Industries; Matt Stackpoole of Synergy Fabricated Innovations; Randy Ramsey of Brooks Construction; Adam Miller of Minnesota DOT; Kevin Lenover of Traffic Engineering Services; Jim Flohr of Pennsylvania DOT; Joey Farrell of Jobsite Technologies; Jerry Turner of Arizona DOT; Lisa Kunzman and Theresa Drum of California DOT; Daniel Smith of Missouri DOT; Eric Hemphill of North Texas Tollway Authority; Shawn Rostorfer of Ohio DOT; and Steve Hall of Virginia DOT.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The placement and retrieval of lane closures is one of the most hazardous activities that maintenance crews perform on a daily basis. It generally requires two workers, one driving the vehicle and one standing in a well on the back of the truck. During deployment, the worker on the back of the truck is leaning out, placing the cones, and has minimal protection from the other vehicles on the roadway. When picking up the lane closure, the truck backs up the highway while the worker on the back leans out and retrieves the cones. The act of backing up a closed lane can be hazardous. Leaning out from the vehicle placing and retrieving a 15 to 30 lb cone can contribute to worker injuries, such as sprains and strains. This potentially increases workers' compensation claims and injury lost time.

Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) contracted with the Texas A&M Transportation Institute (TTI) to investigate the available automated cone placement and retrieval devices and recommend best practices for automated traffic cone placement and retrieval. To accomplish this, the research team used several research tools to collect information on automated and manual temporary traffic control device (TTCD) deployment and retrieval technologies, including: a literature review, a survey of relevant transportation agency practices, and a survey of product vendors and manufacturers.

Initially, the researchers hoped to find several fully automated systems for which attributes could be compared, but only one fully automated product was available on the market. Others were only partially automated, had no automation, or could only be used to move TTCD across a lane from a staged location. In many cases, transportation agencies developed and fabricated their own in-house systems. The researchers created a matrix that itemizes the expected cost and relevant risk-reducing characteristics of each system that was commercially available at the time of this writing. The researchers could not recommend any one product over the others, but do recommend that CDOT perform a relative risk tradeoff assessment to determine if purchasing any of the systems would be appropriate.

iii

The results of this research can be used by CDOT to improve maintenance crew practices, reduce workers' compensation claims, and reduce lost time accidents. All of these objectives contribute to increased safety of CDOT crews, which is the primary benefit of this research.

Implementation Statement

The results of this research included the following recommendations:

- (1) CDOT will need to determine which TTCD setup and removal systems best fit into their risk-balancing practices reviewing the types of injuries that CDOT maintenance forces have experienced and comparing them to the types of injuries that each TTCD setup and removal system can reduce or eliminate.
- (2) If CDOT is interested in a fully-automated system, consideration should be given to performing a peer exchange with the Minnesota DOT, which has recently procured and is now using such a device. CDOT should contact their Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Division to explore the funding potential for such a peer exchange.

Ultimately, if the implementation of automated or semi-automated TTCD setup and removal systems results in reducing or eliminating an injury to one worker, tens of thousands of dollars could be saved. If the one worker fatality is eliminated, millions of dollars could be saved.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of F	igures	vii
List of T	ables	viii
Chapter	1 Introduction	1
Chapter	2 Fully Automated TTCD Setup and Removal Systems	2
2.1.	CalTrans Cone Machine	2
2.2.	Traf-Tech ACT240	3
2.3.	Centreville AutoCone	4
Chapter 2	3 Partially Automated TTCD Setup and Removal Systems	7
3.1.	J-Tech Dynamic Lift System	7
3.2.	Roadrunner System	8
Chapter 4	4 Other TTCD Setup and Removal Systems	10
4.1.	Centreville Roadway Workzone Safety Trailer	10
4.2.	J-Tech Baskets	10
4.3.	Royal Truck Cone Safety Pattern Truck	12
4.4.	S.P.A. Safety Systems Cone Truck	13
Chapter	5 TTCD Pushing Systems	14
5.1.	Artec Innovation Sidewinder	14
5.2.	Barrel Mover 5000	15
5.3.	SCR Industries Barrel Picker Pro	16
5.4.	Synergy Innovations Safety Shift	17
Chapter	6 TTCD Setup and Removal Systems Developed by Transportation Agencies	18
6.1.	Delaware Department of Transportation Cone Trailer	18
6.2.	Arizona Department of Transportation Cone Truck	19
6.3.	California Department of Transportation Cone Truck	20
6.4.	Minnesota Department of Transportation Cone Basket	20
6.5.	Missouri Department of Transportation Cone Baskets	21
6.6.	Ohio Department of Transportation Basket	23
6.7.	North Texas Tollway Authority TTCD Truck	24
Chapter '	7 Conclusions and Recommendations	26
7.1.	Summary of Systems	26
7.2.	Conclusions	28

7.3.	Recommendations	29
Referenc	es	31

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. CalTrans cone machine truck (5).	
Figure 2. Traf-Tech automated cone truck (ACT240) (6).	
Figure 3. Centreville AutoCone 130 (9).	4
Figure 4. Centreville AutoCone 500 (13).	5
Figure 5. MnDOT AutoCone 500 truck (16).	5
Figure 6. J-Tech DLS (18).	
Figure 7. Epic Solutions Roadrunner System (20, 21).	9
Figure 8. Centreville Roadway Workzone Safety Trailer (25)	
Figure 9. J-Tech large basket (26).	11
Figure 10. J-Tech small basket (27)	
Figure 11. Royal Truck used by ODOT crews.	
Figure 12. S.P.A. Safety System cone truck (30).	
Figure 13. Artec Innovation Sidewinder (31).	15
Figure 14. Barrel Mover 5000 (33)	
Figure 15. SCR Industries Barrel Picker Pro (37).	17
Figure 16. Synergy Innovation Safety Shift (39)	17
Figure 17. DelDOT original cone trailer (40).	
Figure 18. DelDOT modified cone trailer (41, 42).	
Figure 19. ADOT cone truck (44)	
Figure 20. CalTrans cone truck (45).	
Figure 21. MnDOT TTCD cart (47).	
Figure 22. MoDOT front-mounted basket (48).	
Figure 23. MoDOT rear-mounted basket (48).	
Figure 24. ODOT rear-mounted basket.	
Figure 25. ODOT maintenance of traffic truck.	
Figure 26. NTTA TTCD truck	
Figure 27. NTTA Hydraulic deck for lowering and lifting devices (51)	

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1. Matrix of TCD setup and removal systems.	
Table 2. Relative risk and cost for each type of TTCD setup and removal system	

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

The setup and removal of temporary traffic control devices (TTCD) is a task performed by maintenance crews on a daily basis. These workers are at risk of bodily injury any time they perform work within the public right of way. The primary types of injury that can occur include: 1) strains or sprains from lifting and/or lowering channelizing devices between the truck and pavement, 2) falling from a truck platform, and 3) being struck by an errant vehicle.

In an effort to reduce injury risks, many agencies have considered using automated TTCD setup and removal equipment/products. These products may include lifting and/or lowering mechanisms that move the TTCD for the worker, fall restraints such as tethers or cages, and/or configurations that remove the worker from the pavement entirely (to reduce injury severity during an errant vehicle event).

Colorado Department of Transportation (CDOT) contracted with the Texas A&M Transportation Institute (TTI) to investigate the available automated cone placement and retrieval systems and recommend best practices for automated traffic cone placement and retrieval. To accomplish this, the TTI research team used several research tools to collect information on automated and manual temporary traffic control device (TTCD) deployment and retrieval technologies. These research tools include a literature review, a survey of relevant transportation agency practices, and a survey of product vendors and manufacturers. The results were sorted into the following categories: fully automated systems (Chapter 2), partially automated systems (Chapter 3), systems with no automation (Chapter 4), TTCD pushing systems (Chapter 5), and systems developed by transportation agencies (Chapter 6). Chapter 7 provides the TTI research team's conclusions and recommendations.

CHAPTER 2 FULLY AUTOMATED TTCD SETUP AND REMOVAL SYSTEMS

These fully automated products were identified by the researchers:

- California Department of Transportation's (CalTrans's) Cone Machine.
- Traf-Tech ACT240.
- Centreville AutoCone 130 and AutoCone 500.

At the time of this writing, the Centreville AutoCone 500 is the only fully automated coneplacement and retrieval product known to be in use in the United States.

2.1. CalTrans Cone Machine

In the mid-1990s, researchers at CalTrans Advanced Highway Maintenance and Construction Technology Center (AHMCT) developed and tested one of the first automated cone placement and retrieval products (1, 2). The AHMCT Cone Machine (Figure 1) can set cones in the forward travel direction and retrieve them in either forward or reverse at speeds up to 10 mph. It requires only one worker to operate. The driver controls the placement and retrieval of cones from inside the truck cab. The machine was designed so that manual operation, as currently performed, would still be possible in the event of unusual circumstances. It was designed to handle generic 28-inch cones and can store about 80 cones on-board. The AHMCT Cone Machine was capable of retrieving upright or knocked-over cones on either the left or right side while traveling either in a forward or reverse direction (3). The AHMCT Cone Machine was developed for research purposes and was never used in the field by CalTrans workers (4). It was commercialized by a California company but is not currently available for purchase due to licensing issues. It is not known if these issues will be resolved any time in the near future (5).



Figure 1. CalTrans cone machine truck (5).

2.2. Traf-Tech ACT240

In 2005, the Traf-Tech Corporation produced a fully automated commercial cone machine. It could be operated by one person who also drove the truck. This machine (Figure 2) held 240 cones and was produced as the Automated Cone Truck (ACT240). It could automatically set the cones at 25-ft, 50-ft, or 100-ft spacing on the roadway traveling forward and could collect them traveling forward or in reverse. Other spacing increments could be set manually. However, the ACT240 had limited usefulness because it could only accommodate 28-inch cones. It was later modified to accommodate 36-inch cones. Original retail pricing was approximately \$75,000 (*6*). Several older videos are available online (7). Field experiences with the ACT240 were somewhat negative. A Virginia-based traffic control provider purchased one of these machines and reported numerous problems with its performance and usefulness (8). Traf-Tech is no longer in business.



Figure 2. Traf-Tech automated cone truck (ACT240) (6).

2.3. Centreville AutoCone

Centreville Manufacturing, Inc. produces the AutoCone in both trailer-mounted and truckmounted formats. The AutoCone 130 trailer was developed as a fully automatic cone placement and retrieval device and marketed by Centreville Trailer. It can be towed with a standard half-ton pickup truck and operated by the truck driver using the light switch and turn signals of the truck. As shown in Figure 3, the trailer consists of a large circular storage chamber that holds up to 136 36-inch cones. At the front of the trailer, there is a mechanical arm that dispenses cones to either side of the trailer and a retrieving chute that can pick up the cones and return them to the storage chamber (*10*). Several videos demonstrating the operation of this product can be found online (*11, 12*). At this time, the researchers have not identified any transportation agencies that have experience using the AutoCone 130.





Figure 3. Centreville AutoCone 130 (9).

Because deployment of lengthy work zones may require more than 130 cones, the need for a larger capacity storage chamber was evident. Centreville redesigned the AutoCone 130 and now also markets the truck-mounted AutoCone 500 (Figure 4). This unit can carry up to 500 28-inch cones, can place and retrieve cones from either side of the truck, and can do so in forward or reverse travel. The unit can be purchased in either truck-mounted or trailer-mounted formats (*13*). Pricing depends on the final configuration. A video demonstrating the operation of this product can be found online (*14*).



Figure 4. Centreville AutoCone 500 (13).

Recently, Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) purchased an AutoCone 500 and had the manufacturer install the equipment on a MnDOT-owned truck (a 1993 Ford F700) (Figure 5). MnDOT took delivery of the truck with the retrofitted AutoCone 500 in May 2016 for a cost of approximately \$80,000, and maintenance crews have been using the equipment for approximately one year as of this writing (*15*).



Figure 5. MnDOT AutoCone 500 truck (16).

An interview with MnDOT staff revealed that there were some issues with cold weather operation of the AutoCone 500. A small diesel engine located above the truck cab runs the 24-volt generator that charges the batteries and runs the air compressor. The fuel tank for this engine is mounted along the truck frame down below, making it difficult to keep the fuel flowing up to

the engine. In addition, the compressor runs continuously during operation and that heat results in condensation in the air lines, which can freeze up in cold weather. MnDOT staff are considering swapping this system for a standalone compressor/generator similar to those found in mechanics' service trucks. At this time, it is not known if the manufacturer will incorporate this modification into the assembly of AutoCone 500 systems in the future.

MnDOT staff also found that, like any mechanical equipment, the operator will occasionally need to make some minor adjustments when operating this equipment. Having a few regular operators that are familiar with (and know how to adjust) the AutoCone 500 is beneficial. MnDOT staff have been very pleased with the manufacturer's ongoing responsiveness to their needs and willingness to provide generous phone support. At this time, MnDOT does not have plans to purchase additional AutoCone 500 units. MnDOT staff in the Owatonna Subarea office have offered to conduct an operational demonstration at their facility for staff from other agencies that may have an interest in this equipment (*17*).

CHAPTER 3 PARTIALLY AUTOMATED TTCD SETUP AND REMOVAL SYSTEMS

Partially automated systems are those that eliminate the lifting task for workers, but require at least one worker to stand on a platform to feed cones into the system and operate the lifting/lowering mechanism that moves the cones. Another worker must still drive the truck. The researchers identified two partially automated systems:

- J-Tech Dynamic Lift System (DLS).
- Roadrunner System.

3.1. J-Tech Dynamic Lift System

The J-Tech DLS (Figure 6) enables workers to deploy and retrieve vertical panels and is not designed for use with any other types of channelizing devices. While a hydraulic arm is used to raise and lower the platform supporting the vertical panel, a worker must still reach over a railing to slide the vertical panel from the platform to the pavement. This can be more easily seen in the online video for this product (*18*). The DLS system includes the J-Tech truck body, rear basket, hydraulic system, and platforms. The cost is approximately \$40,000 to have the DLS system installed on a customer-supplied truck chassis. There is one Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission (PTC) contractor who is using this equipment on PTC jobs. There are no state departments of transportation or tollway agencies using the DLS, primarily because they are not willing to switch out their channelizing device inventory for vertical panels (*19*).



Figure 6. J-Tech DLS (18).

3.2. Roadrunner System

The Roadrunner System is based on a system initially developed by Illinois Tool Works. It is now produced and marketed by Epic Solutions and distributed by Royal Truck and Equipment. The system accepts cones up to 36-inches tall and consists of two parts: a cone setter and a cone retriever (Figure 7). The cone setter can be mounted in the stake pockets on either side of any flatbed truck. It requires one or two workers to operate (depending on the deployment speed) plus a driver for the truck. The workers place a cone in the cone stop at the top of the device and a separate handheld control is used to release each cone so it can slide down the rails and onto the pavement. A programmable timing package is also available. This allows the setter to dispense cones at an established rate, based on the speed of the vehicle. Videos on the manufacturer's webpage show how the setter operates (*20*).

The cone retriever requires only one person in the truck bed to operate the handheld controls and unload cones from the retriever unit (which can accumulate up to five cones at a time). The retriever tips each cone on its side, where it slips into a cage over a cone-shaped prong that rotates it into a vertical position and lifts it to the top of the cage. It can pick up cones in a forward or reverse direction, depending upon how it is mounted to the truck. Videos on the manufacturer's webpage show how the setter and retriever operate (21). The cost for an installed Roadrunner System is approximately \$35,000 (22).



Figure 7. Epic Solutions Roadrunner System (20, 21).

Traffic Engineering Services (TES), a contractor in Maryland, is using the Roadrunner System with 36-inch cones on one of their TTCD trucks. TES reported that they initially had some issues with the cones getting jammed in the retriever, but made some adjustments that resolved the problem. Now the cones rarely become jammed. TES has also been very pleased with the manufacturer's customer service. TES purchased the Roadrunner System as part of a truck package that included a new truck chassis, stake body, message board, and attenuator for approximately \$120,000 (*23*).

CHAPTER 4 OTHER TTCD SETUP AND REMOVAL SYSTEMS

There are numerous other commercial products available to assist workers with placement and retrieval of TTCD. These systems have no automated or semi-automated device handling equipment installed and include:

- Centreville Roadway Safety Trailer.
- J-Tech Baskets.
- Royal Truck Cone/Safety Pattern Truck.
- S.P.A. Safety System Cone Truck.

4.1. Centreville Roadway Workzone Safety Trailer

The Centreville Roadway Workzone Safety Trailer is built on a 17-ft trailer base and can be towed with a standard pickup truck. It holds up to 30 drums and drum bases, over 100 cones, and 16 sign stands. The cost is about \$15,000 (24).



Figure 8. Centreville Roadway Workzone Safety Trailer (25).

4.2. J-Tech Baskets

J-Tech manufactures and sells two types of baskets. The large, steel basket has a 4-ft by 8-ft floor and is permanently mounted to a large truck such as the one shown in Figure 9. A unique

feature of this product is that the basket can be hydraulically raised and lowered to approximately 3 inches above ground, which allows workers placing TTCD to be closer to the pavement. This setup requires at least three workers to operate, including the driver. The cost to have the stake body and large basket installed on a customer-supplied chassis is approximately \$25,000 (19, 26).



Figure 9. J-Tech large basket (26).

The smaller, aluminum basket (Figure 10) has a 3-ft by 6.5-ft floor and can be moved to different vehicles as needed. The basket height is adjustable and has two settings: travel height and working height. Workers can pull cones from the pickup truck bed and deploy them from the platform. This unit costs approximately \$9,000 (19, 27).



Figure 10. J-Tech small basket (27).

4.3. Royal Truck Cone Safety Pattern Truck

Royal Truck manufactures custom trucks for TTCD placement and retrieval with various optional equipment, such as truck-mounted attenuators, rear baskets, and lower side decks. Several Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) maintenance crews are currently using these trucks during maintenance operations. Figure 11 shows one of these trucks (28).



Figure 11. Royal Truck used by ODOT crews.

4.4. S.P.A. Safety Systems Cone Truck

S.P.A Safety Systems also manufactures custom cone trucks. The truck shown in Figure 12 has a 20-ft truck body and rear basket. Depending on the options selected, the truck sells for approximately \$60,000 (29).



Figure 12. S.P.A. Safety System cone truck (30).

CHAPTER 5 TTCD PUSHING SYSTEMS

There are also several commercial products that shift TTCD across a lane. They do not place or remove TTCD. Instead, they simply move a line of channelizing devices laterally across the lane to open or close the lane. These devices include:

- Artec Innovation Sidewinder.
- Barrel Mover 5000.
- SCR Industries Barrel Picker Pro.
- Synergy Innovations Safety Shift.

5.1. Artec Innovation Sidewinder

The Artec Innovation Sidewinder (Figure 13) is a plow-type system that mounts to a customer's plow truck. It allows the driver to use hydraulic systems to control the plow angle and position. The plow can extend across two lane widths, which is a unique feature that other plow-type TTCD-pushing devices do not have. The contact surface with the channelizing devices consists of rollers that allow the devices to slide along the plow. It also folds for transport. Online videos are available on the manufacturer's website (*31*). The manufacturer reported costs near \$100,000 per unit. There are a few contractors in Canada who use this device, but none in the United States (*32*).



Figure 13. Artec Innovation Sidewinder (31).

5.2. Barrel Mover 5000

The Barrel Mover 5000 is another pushing system that mounts to the front of a truck (Figure 14). The system can be mounted to a three-quarter ton pickup truck with just four bolts after removing the tow hooks. The system has rollers that allow the drums to slide across the lane and is relatively light weight compared to the Artec Innovation Sidewinder. It has no hydraulic control system (*33*). The manufacturer sells this product for \$20,000, and several contractors in Kentucky and Indiana are using it with great success (*34*).



Figure 14. Barrel Mover 5000 (33).

5.3. SCR Industries Barrel Picker Pro

SCR Industries designed and fabricated an attachment for a skid-steer loader that can be used to pick up and relocate drums. It can be easily installed by customers on their own skid steer. In addition to moving drums across lanes, online videos show the device being used to load drums into the back of a dump truck where a worker stores them (35). Figure 15 shows the Barrel Picker Pro. This product is used by a few contractors in Michigan. The manufacturer reported a cost of approximately \$4,300 for the device (36).



Figure 15. SCR Industries Barrel Picker Pro (37).

5.4. Synergy Innovations Safety Shift

The Safety Shift (Figure 16) moves channelizing drums and cones across a single lane. It attaches to the front of a standard truck and can shift the devices across the lane while traveling up to 15 mph. The surface that contacts with the channelizing devices is made from a propriety material. It folds for transport from one location to another and costs around \$13,800 (including the snow plow mount). If the customer's truck already has a snow plow mount and does not need the Safety Shift mount, the price is \$7,500 (*38*).



Figure 16. Synergy Innovation Safety Shift (39).

CHAPTER 6 TTCD SETUP AND REMOVAL SYSTEMS DEVELOPED BY TRANSPORTATION AGENCIES

The researchers found that several agencies involved in roadway construction and maintenance activities have designed and fabricated their own TTCD placement and retrieval equipment at a significantly lower cost than the purchase of commercial products.

6.1. Delaware Department of Transportation Cone Trailer

Delaware Department of Transportation (DelDOT) designed and fabricated two cone trailers (Figure 17). The trailer has a caged cone storage area, a covered path for one worker to access cones, and seats on both sides for a worker who is placing (or retrieving) cones. Including the driver, the operation requires three workers (40). The trailers were later modified to include some improvements (Figure 18). The cover was extended to the full length of the trailer, brighter paint colors were used, and an arrow panel was added to the back. The cost of fabricating the trailers was not tracked (41, 42).



Figure 17. DelDOT original cone trailer (40).



Figure 18. DelDOT modified cone trailer (41, 42).

6.2. Arizona Department of Transportation Cone Truck

Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) designed and fabricated custom truck beds for use with standard truck-style chassis cabs. Figure 19 shows the ADOT cone truck setup, which includes an arrow panel. Operation requires two workers (a driver and a cone setter). The cones are accessed from a conveyor belt located in the middle of the truck bed, which can hold 60–80 cones. The cone setter works from a lowered seat that is integrated into the truck body, allowing him to reach down toward the pavement. The setup also includes PVC tubes to hold roll-up signs. The cost to manufacture was not tracked and is not known (*43*).



Figure 19. ADOT cone truck (44).

6.3. California Department of Transportation Cone Truck

California Department of Transportation has also used a truck body similar to the ADOT truck. Figure 20 shows the cone truck being used to deploy cones. This operation requires two workers. The cost of fabricating the truck bed is not known.



Figure 20. CalTrans cone truck (45).

6.4. Minnesota Department of Transportation Cone Basket

Minnesota Department of Transportation (MnDOT) developed a front-mounted basket for use in placing cones. The front-mounted style was intended to move the worker to the front of the truck and allow the mass of the truck to separate the worker from errant vehicles. Shown in Figure 21, the basket was fabricated by an outside source and cost approximately \$4,000 (47).



Figure 21. MnDOT TTCD cart (47).

6.5. Missouri Department of Transportation Cone Baskets

Missouri Department of Transportation (MoDOT) investigated the use of automated equipment, but found that the use of 42-inch two-piece cones (they termed the devices trimline cones) could not be accommodated with existing off-the-shelf products. With no viable solutions commercially available, MoDOT employees came up with some in-house designs for baskets that could easily be attached to existing equipment. Figure 22 shows a front-mounted basket that can be hosted by any of MoDOT's plow trucks. The basket is designed with side gates, which allows cones to be set from either side. The bottom of the basket is near the pavement, so workers are not required to do significant bending to place and retrieve cones. The basket has room for two workers, which can be helpful when cones become stuck together (requiring two workers to separate them). The cones can be left in the basket when not in use, so the workers simply drop the loaded basket from the plow truck. MoDOT District 8 workers reported a feeling of increased safety because they were able to work in front of the heavy truck and felt more protected from traffic. In addition, they were always in view of the driver. Including the driver, this operation requires three workers. Records show that the fabrication effort was estimated to be \$250 for supplies and 16 hours of labor (*48*).



Figure 22. MoDOT front-mounted basket (48).

MoDOT also developed a quick-loading trimline cone carrier with integrated work platform for use with their dump trucks (Figure 23). The carrier is a self-standing rack that slips into the dump truck and allows workers to place and retrieve cones from either side of the truck. While this figure shows three workers in the back of the truck, it is presumed that this operation could be performed with three workers (two in the back plus the driver). The fabrication effort was estimated to be approximately \$1,000 for supplies and 95 hours of labor (*48*).





Figure 23. MoDOT rear-mounted basket (48).

6.6. Ohio Department of Transportation Basket

Ohio Department of Transportation (ODOT) designed and fabricated a rear-mounted basket (shown in Figure 24) for use with their plow trucks during the off-season. This setup requires three workers, including the driver. One worker, positioned in the bed of the dump truck, assembles the 42-inch two-piece cones and lowers them to another worker (who is positioned down in the basket) for placement on the roadway surface. Initially, the worker assembling the cones had no fall protection and a serious worker injury incident occurred. ODOT later improved this basket by adding a strap across the top rear corners of the dump bed to provide fall protection (*49*).



Figure 24. ODOT rear-mounted basket.

ODOT also custom designed and fabricated their own maintenance of traffic truck (Figure 25). The original truck chassis was extended to allow a longer body to be installed. This increased the storage capacity available for TTCDs. The truck has a lower deck on each side that provides enough room for one drum with base and a worker to stand. This worker, positioned closer to the pavement, manually places and retrieves the drums, while two workers located in the main bed assemble or stack the drums. The truck has side rails to prevent worker falls. However, these

workers standing in the main bed must reach over the railing below their foot level to reach the handle of the drum on the lower deck. This setup requires three workers plus a driver to operate.



Figure 25. ODOT maintenance of traffic truck.

6.7. North Texas Tollway Authority TTCD Truck

The North Texas Tollway Authority (NTTA) designed, fabricated, and patented a traffic control truck using a much larger chassis cab (*50*). Figure 26 shows this truck. This setup requires three workers to operate. One worker drives the truck, while another stands on a lowered deck located just aft of the driver side door. A third worker, who is tethered to the cage, moves about in the cage to supply assembled drums or cones via a hydraulic deck that is raised and lowered. Figure 27 shows the hydraulic deck and online videos demonstrate its operation (*51*). This cage setup cost approximately \$20,000 to manufacture. In addition, NTTA incurred the cost of the truck and other safety equipment to make this a dedicated TTCD vehicle (*52*).



Figure 26. NTTA TTCD truck.



Figure 27. NTTA Hydraulic deck for lowering and lifting devices (51).

CHAPTER 7 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1. Summary of Systems

Table 1 summarizes all relevant placement and retrieval equipment available for purchase that has been identified by the researchers to date. The table provides a synopsis of automation level, type of TTCD that can be used, cost, vendor contact information, and some risk-reducing attributes of each system. All of the systems listed in the table remove workers from the pavement during TTCD set up and removal.

Automation Level	Manufacturer and System Name	TTCDs	Cost	Vendor Contact	Lift/Lower Mechanism	Fall Restraint	Minimum # of Workers
Full	Centreville AutoCone 500	cones up to 36"	\$80,000 + truck chassis	John Doran 410-758-1333	Yes	N/A	1
Partial	J-Tech Dynamic Lift System	vertical panels	\$70,000 + truck chassis	Preston Denlinger 610-458-4334	Yes	Rails/Basket	3
Partial	Epic Solutions Roadrunner	cones up to 36"	\$35,000 + TTCD truck	Andrew Roberts 484-895-1281	Yes	Rails	3
None	Centreville Roadway Safety Trailer	cones up to 36"	\$15,000	John Doran 410-758-1333	No	None	3
None	J-Tech Basket (large)	any	\$25,000 + TTCD truck	Preston Denlinger 610-458-4334	No	Basket	3
None	J-Tech Basket (small)	cones up to 36"	\$9,000 + pickup truck	Preston Denlinger 610-458-4334	No	Basket	3
None	Royal Truck Safety Pattern Truck	any	~\$80,000 to \$100,000	Andrew Roberts 484-895-1281	No	Rails	3
None	S.P.A. Safety Systems Cone Truck	cones up to 36"	\$60,000	Steve Dudas 973-347-1101	No	Rails/Basket	3
Pushing	Artec Innovations Sidewinder	drums	\$100,000	Serge Daignault 514-357-2525	No	N/A	1
Pushing	Barrel Mover 5000	drums	\$20,000	Dave Wyrick 859-428-7411	No	N/A	1
Pushing	SCR Industries Barrel Picker Pro	drums	\$4,300	Reed Felton 414-881-6630	No	N/A	1
Pushing	Synergy Innovation Safety Shift	drums	\$13,800 or \$7,500 + mount	Matt Stackpoole 313-600-1634	No	N/A	1

Table 1. Matrix of TCD setup and removal systems.

7.2. Conclusions

Fully automated cone placement and retrieval equipment has several benefits. It enables the TTCD to be deployed by one worker who also drives the equipment. By removing workers from the pavement and from the back of the vehicle during this critical time, it eliminates the opportunities for workers to be directly struck by passing motorists. If an errant vehicle strikes the piece of equipment, injury severity for the worker is greatly reduced. It also reduces the likelihood of back injuries because the worker does not handle the cones directly while operating the equipment. Finally, a worker is not located in the bed of the vehicle, so not at risk for falling from the vehicle.

However, fully automated cone placement and retrieval equipment also has several disadvantages. Specifically, due to the mechanical complexity of fully automated devices now on the market, they are subject to frequent cone jams and breakdowns. The benefits obtained by removing workers from the pavement are reduced or lost if the worker(s) have to exit the vehicle to clear jams or resolve mechanical issues with the equipment. These systems are also typically designed to accommodate only one type of TTCD.

Partially automated equipment can eliminate the lifting and lowering tasks for workers, but this equipment still requires that at least one worker stands on a moving platform, namely the truck body. These workers are at risk for falls if they are not tethered or caged. These systems may also experience periodic mechanical breakdowns. In addition, they may be designed to use only one type of channelizing device.

TTCD pushing systems remove workers from the pavement and provide a significant benefit in long-term stationary work zones where lanes may open or close frequently (for example, when multiday work is limited to certain times of day or night). Thus, these types of devices would not be applicable to those types of maintenance activities are short-duration or short-term operations at a single location.

Equipment with no automation (such as baskets, carts, trailers, and custom truck bodies with raised platforms and lower decks) can keep workers off of the pavement and allow them to ride instead of walk. If an errant vehicle were to strike a worker, injury severity could be reduced. But

28

these devices also increase the vertical and lateral distance that workers must reach to place and retrieve cones, increasing the risk of sprain/strain injury. Workers are also at risk for falls if they are not tethered or caged. In other TTI research, the researchers have found that, without any type of lifting assistance, cone trucks and baskets have a significant potential for worker injuries during TTCD setup and removal. In addition, when compared to placing and retrieving cones on foot, they typically do not reduce the number of workers required to perform these tasks (*49*).

The researchers were not asked to assess the types of injuries CDOT maintenance forces are currently experiencing as part of this project, nor to estimate how a change from current practices would affect injury rates. Consequently, Table 2 simply summarizes the relative risks and cost of each type of TTCD setup and removal system when compared to the risk experienced by a worker setting and retrieving TTCD on foot.

T	Bodily Inju			
Type of TTCD Setup and Removal System	Lifting/Lowering Injuries	Falls from Platform(s)	Struck by Errant Vehicle	Relative Cost
Fully automated	Eliminated	Eliminated	Reduced	\$\$\$
Partially automated	Reduced	Increased	Reduced	\$\$ to \$\$\$
No automation	Increased	Increased	Reduced	\$ to \$\$\$

Eliminated

Eliminated

\$ to \$\$\$

Table 2. Relative risk and cost for each type of TTCD setup and removal system.

^a requires previous staging of TTCD by other means

Eliminated

7.3. Recommendations

Pushing systems^a

As a result of these findings, the researchers recommend the following:

- (1) CDOT will need to determine which TTCD setup and removal systems best fit into their risk-balancing practices reviewing the types of injuries that CDOT maintenance forces have experienced and comparing them to the types of injuries that each TTCD setup and removal system can reduce or eliminate.
- (2) If CDOT is interested in a fully-automated system, consideration should be given to performing a peer exchange with the Minnesota DOT, which has recently procured and is

now using such a device. CDOT should contact their Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) Division to explore the funding potential for such a peer exchange.

Ultimately, if the implementation of automated or semi-automated TTCD setup and removal systems results in reducing or eliminating an injury to one worker, tens of thousands of dollars could be saved. If the one worker fatality is eliminated, millions of dollars could be saved.

REFERENCES

- Cone Placement and Retrieval Vehicle. California Advanced Highway Maintenance and Construction Technology Research Center, University of California at Davis, California Department of Transportation, May 2007. Available at: <u>http://www.dot.ca.gov/newtech/ researchreports/two-page_summaries/ahmct_cone_machine_070522_B.pdf</u>. Accessed December 31, 2014.
- Cline, M.B., C.J. Belltawn, J.B. McLeod, W.A. White, and S.A. Velinsky. *Development of a Prototype Automated Cone Machine and a High Capacity Storage System*. AHMCT Research Report UCD-ARR-99-06-30-07, California Advanced Highway Maintenance and Construction Technology Research Center, University of California at Davis, California Department of Transportation, June 1999. Available at: <u>http://www.dot.ca.gov/newtech/researchreports/1997-2001/devprototype_nops.pdf</u>. Accessed

December 31, 2015.

- Cone Placement and Retrieval Vehicle. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://ahmct.ucdavis.edu/?projects=test-deployment</u>. Accessed December 31, 2014.
- 4. Phone interview with Theresa Drum, Safety Manager, CalTrans. January 6, 2015.
- Traf-Tech Automated Cone Truck Bed ACT240. eBay listing. Accessed December 31, 2014. Available at: <u>http://www.ebay.com/itm/TRAF-tech-Automated-Cone-Truck-Bed-ACT240-</u>/221633846655?pt=LH DefaultDomain 0&hash=item339a681d7f.
- Traf-Tech Traffic Safety Equipment. YouTube Video. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/user/traftechconetrucks</u>. Accessed December 31, 2015.
- 8. Email with Steve Hall, Traffic Safety Supplies, Inc., dated May 22, 2014.
- Innovative Equipment. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://www.innovativequip.com/</u>. Accessed December 16, 2015.
- AutoCone 130. Webpage by Centreville Manufacturing, Inc. Available at: <u>http://www.centrevilletrailer.com/products/custom-trailers/automatic-safety-cone-placement-and-retrieval/</u>. Accessed April 10, 2017.

- AutoCone 130 Trailer from Centreville Trailers. YouTube Video. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Z8mJJ1jKU9M</u>. Accessed April 10, 2017.
- AutoCone 130. YouTube Video. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ubLPQmFPmDw</u>. Accessed April 10, 2017.
- AutoCone 500 Truck Mounted Model. Centreville Manufacturing, Inc. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://www.centrevilletrailer.com/products/custom-trailers/autocone-500/</u>. Accessed April 10, 2017.
- 14. AutoCone 500 Aug 2012. YouTube Video. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=EU7eTmtvQNA. Accessed April 10, 2017.
- 15. Email from Adam Miller, Minnesota Department of Transportation, dated January 27, 2017.
- 16. MnDOT Demonstrates New Machinery. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://www.wctrib.com/news/local/4036156-mndot-demonstrates-new-machinery</u>. Accessed April 13, 2017.
- 17. Email from Adam Miller, Minnesota Department of Transportation, dated April 12, 2017.
- Pattern Truck with J-Tech DLS. YouTube video. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KzErcAe_lDY</u>. Accessed April 11, 2017.
- 19. Email from Preston Denlinger, J-Tech Truck Services, dated April 13, 2017.
- 20. Cone Setter CS 3100. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://epicsolutions.us/striping-roadway-solutions/ram/cone-setter-cs-3100/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2017.
- 21. Cone Retriever CR 3200. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://epicsolutions.us/striping-roadway-solutions/ram/cone-retriever-cr-3200/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2017.
- 22. Phone interview with Andrew Roberts, Royal Truck and Equipment. October 6, 2015.
- 23. Phone interview with Kevin Lenover, Traffic Engineering Services. April 13, 2017.
- 24. Phone interview with Joe Uber, Centreville Trailer, December 23, 2014.
- 25. 17' Roadway Workzone Safety Trailer. Website. Available at: <u>http://www.innovativequip.com/roadway-workzone-safety-trailer/index.htm</u>. Accessed April 11, 2017.
- 26. Pattern Truck Rental. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://staging.jtechusa.com/p-95-pattern-truck-</u> rental. Accessed April 11, 2017.
- Hitch-mount Manbasket. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://jtechusa.com/hitch-mount-manbasket</u>. Accessed April 11, 2017.

- Royal Truck & Equipment. Available at: <u>http://www.royaltruckandequipment.com/</u> <u>custom-builds/cone-trucks</u>. Accessed April 13, 2017.
- 29. Phone interview with Steve Dudas, S.P.A. Safety Systems. January 5, 2015.
- 30. S.P.A. Safety Systems Cone Trucks. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://www.spasafety</u> systems.com/Gallery/Photos/Cone-Trucks.aspx. Accessed April 12, 2017.
- 31. Artec. Website. Available at: http://www.artecinnovation.com/. Accessed April 12, 2017.
- 32. Phone interview with Serge Daignault, Artec Innovation. April 12, 2017.
- BarrelMover500. Webpage. Available at: <u>https://www.barrelmover5000.com/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2017.
- 34. Phone interview with Dave Wyrick, Barrel Mover 5000. April 13, 2017.
- 35. Mudtech Preferred Method of Moving Traffic Barrels. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://www.mudtechworks.com/milwaukeeMudjackerVideos/equipmentForMovingTrafficBa</u> <u>rrels</u>. Accessed April 13, 2017.
- 36. Phone interview with Reed Felton, SCR Industries. April 13, 2017.
- 37. Barrel Picker Pro by Mudtech. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://www.mudtechworks.com/</u> <u>milwaukeeMudjackerVideos/barrelPickerPro</u>. Accessed April 12, 2017.
- 38. Phone interview with Matt Stackpoole, Synergy Fabricated Innovations. April 11, 2017.
- 39. Safety Shift. Website. Available at: <u>www.synergyinnovation.com</u>. Accessed April 12, 2017.
- 40. *Projects:* DelDOT Annual Project Awards for 2006. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://www.deldot.gov/information/projects/outstanding_projects/2006/safety-</u> <u>cone_trailers.shtml</u>. Accessed January 1, 2015.
- 41. *Delaware Department of Transportation cone truck*. Web image. Available at: http://i.ytimg.com/vi/vya8j55M90w/0.jpg. Accessed January 1, 2015.
- 42. Delaware Department of Transportation cone truck. Web image. Available at: http://i.ytimg.com/vi/rk-mdpEviV8/0.jpg. Accessed January 1, 2015.
- 43. Email from Jerry Turner, Arizona Department of Transportation, dated December 10, 2014.
- 44. Vehicles of ADOT Cone Truck. Webpage. Available at: <u>http://azdot.gov/media/blog/posts/2014/01/14/vehicles-of-adot-cone-trucks</u>. Accessed January 1, 2015.

- 45. 2016 Caltrans Workers Memorial Media Kit. Website. Available at: <u>http://www.dot.ca.gov/paffairs/workersmemorial/mediakit/2016/2016-hi-res-photos.html</u>. Accessed April 11, 2017.
- 46. Statewide Biennial Maintenance Operations Research Report, 2013-2015. Office of Maintenance, Minnesota Department of Transportation, September 2015. Available at: <u>http://www.dot.state.mn.us/maintenance/pdf/research/statewide-biennial-maint-research-rpt-2013-2015.pdf</u>. Accessed April 11, 2107.
- 47. Innovative Cone Setting Basket. Presentation. Available at: <u>http://www.dot.state.mn.us/</u> <u>trafficeng/workzone/doc/metro-cone-setting-basket.pdf</u>. Accessed December 16, 2015.
- 48. Email from Daniel Smith, Missouri Department of Transportation, dated October 6, 2014.
- 49. Research in Progress: Evaluation of Safety Practices for Short Duration Work Zones.
 Webpage. Available at: <u>https://rip.trb.org/view/2015/P/1366032</u>. Accessed April 14, 2017.
- 50. Safety Cone and Barrell Placement and Retrieval Apparatus. U.S. Patent No. 9,056,572 B2. Available at: <u>http://www.freepatentsonline.com/20130156532.pdf</u>. Accessed April 11, 2017.
- 51. NTTA Safety-Truck Demo. YouTube Video. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=PmB1CUaKbcU&list=UUTKfFGKJ2Te51DPx0i9shlA</u>. Accessed December 29, 2014.
- 52. Email from Eric Hemphill, North Texas Tollway Authority, dated December 29, 2014.